OA 18-2-01

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 1 4200

Case No, SC01-95

DALE EDWARD SJUTS,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY

Dotitioner

Petitioner, :

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4324

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 5, 1999, the State Attorney for the Tenth Judicial Circuit filed a Petition for **Commitment** pursuant to the **Jimmy** Ryce Act, sections 916.31-916.49, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), against Dale Edward Sjuts. (V1/R1-19) On January 11, 1999, Circuit Court Judge Cecelia Moore appointed the Public Defender to represent Mr. Sjuts. (V1/R47) On behalf of its client, the Public Defender's Office for the Tenth Judicial Circuit filed an Answer to the Petition that included four counterclaims.

Counterclaim I was against the psychiatrist under contract with the State to evaluate Mr. Sjuts for purposes of determining whether Mr. Sjuts was a sexually violent predator who should be committed pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act. The counterclaim alleges problems in conducting the evaluation and requests damages, attorney's fees, and enjoinment of the evaluation and its fruits therefrom. The counterclaim alleges a violation of constitutional rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983. Counterclaim II was against the State's contract psychiatrist and the State, and it alleges Mr. Sjuts is being deprived of his liberty interests due to information contained in the doctor's improperly obtained evaluation of Mr. Sjuts. The counterclaim requests damages, attorney's fees, and an enjoinment of using or benefiting from the evaluation due to a violation of 42 U.S.C. §1983. (V1/R68-75)

The **State** filed a motion to dismiss Counterclaims I and II arguing, among other things, that the Public Defender had no authority to pursue civil rights actions against the State.

(V1/R113-117) The doctor, via the Attorney General's Office, filed a similar motion. (V1/R155-161) On March 25, 1999, a hearing was held on the motions to dismiss (V3/R355-369); and on April 23, 1999, the trial court rendered an order granting the motions to dismiss Counterclaims I and II. (V2/R260-263) The order held that these Counterclaims were permissive and beyond the scope of the Public Defender's statutory authority under §27.51, Fla. Stat. (1997). The trial court then dismissed the two Counterclaims without prejudice. The Public Defender's Office, on behalf of Mr. Sjuts, filed a timely notice of appeal on May 24, 1999. (V2/R347-351)

On December 15, 2000, the Second District issued an opinion finding, among other things, the Public Defender had no authority to pursue civil rights actions against the State and the State's agent. Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction on the basis that the Second District's opinion expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The counterclaims in this case are, in actuality, compulsory and must be raised now or they will be forever waived. The dismissed counterclaims arise from the same aggregate of operative facts because the facts serve as the basis for both the claim and the counterclaims or because the core of the facts for the original claim activates additional legal claims for Mr. Sjuts that would otherwise remain dormant. If this Court finds these counterclaims are compulsory, then this Court should dismiss this appeal and require the trial court to reconsider its order in light of its erroneous ruling that the counterclaims were permissive.

If this Court decides the counterclaims are permissive, then the trial court erred in holding these counterclaims were beyond the Public Defender's statutory authority to pursue. counterclaims are an intrical part of the civil commitment action (Jimmy Ryce Act) to which the Public Defender's Office has been If the appointed in order to represent Mr. Sjuts' interests. Public Defender is to represent Mr. Sjuts in these Jimmy Ryce Act proceedings, it must represent Mr. Sjuts fully and without limitations. The Public Defender has an ethical duty to represent Sjuts without limitations being placed on its independent professional judgment by the State, and the State has a constitutional obligation to respect that professional independence. Thus, the trial court erred in dismissing Counterclaims I and II as being beyond the Public Defender's scope of representation.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DISMISS-ING PETITIONER'S COUNTERCLAIMS I AND II AS BEING BEYOND THE SCOPE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER'S AUTHORITY TO PURSUE?

Before the issue of the scope of the Public Defender's authority is addressed, there is a threshold issue that must be crossed first, Although the trial court held the Counterclaims at issue were permissive, the issue of whether they were permissive or compulsory was not discussed at Mr. Sjuts' March 25, 1999, hearing. The issue was discussed in a similar pending case on April 5, 1999, (prior to the rendition of the order) for a Jose Angel Ortega¹ (see Appendix B) with the Public Defender's Office taking the position that these are compulsory counterclaims. If these are compulsory counterclaims, then they must be raised now or they will be forever waived. Londono v. Turkey Creek, Inc., 609 So. 2d 14 at 19 (Fla. 1992).

The test for measuring whether a claim is compulsory is the "logical relationship test." This test is further defined as:

[A] claim has a logical relationship to the original claim if it <u>arises</u> out of the same aggregate of operative facts as the original claim in two senses: (1) that the same aggregate of operative facts serves as the basis of both claims; or (2) that the aggregate core of facts upon which the original claim rests activates additional legal rights in a party

¹ Mr. Ortega's petition on this same issue is pending before this Court in Case No. SC01-583.

defendant that would other wise remain dormant.

Londono, 609 So. 2d at 20, quoting from a quote contained in Neil v. South Florida Auto Painters, Inc., 397 So. 2d 1160 at 1164 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). But, as this Court noted, "stating this test is far easier than determining if a claim passes the logical relationship test." Londono, 609 So. 2d at 20.

Although the trial court found the Petitioner's Counterclaims to be separate and distinct from the State's civil commitment actions and not based on the same transaction and occurrence as the petitions for commitment, the Public Defender and Petitioner argue the contrary. A condition precedent to the State Attorney filing a petition seeking to have a person declared a sexually violent predator is the filing of a written assessment as to whether the person meets the definition of a sexually violent predator.

"Sexually violent predator" is defined as any person who:

(a) Has been convicted of a **sexually** violent offense;

and

(b) Suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care, and treatment.

§916.32(9), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998). Therefore, the civil commitment petition filed in the above-styled cause is not based solely on prior convictions for specified convictions. It is also based on an assessment that Mr. Sjuts currently suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined. Actions

occurring during this legally required assessment are the subject of Mr. Sjuts' counterclaims, making his counterclaims inextricably bound up with the State's claims. Thus, Mr. Sjuts' counterclaims are compulsory² contrary to the trial court's findings.

If these Counterclaims are compulsory, then it is essential Unfortunately, they be raised now or they will be deemed waived. the dismissal of a compulsory counterclaim is not appealable at this point in time. Dismissal of a compulsory counterclaim is not considered a final disposition and is not appealable until a final disposition of the original cause has been obtained on the merits. Campbell v. Gordon, 674 So. 2d 783 at 785 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). If this Court agrees with Petitioner that his Counterclaims arise from the same aggregate of operative facts because the facts serve as the basis for both the claim and counterclaims or because the core of the facts for the original claim activates additional legal claims for Mr. Sjuts that would otherwise remain dormant, then this Court should dismiss this case and require the trial court to reconsider its order in light of its erroneous ruling that the counterclaims were permissive.

²Rule 1.170(a), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, provides:

(a) Compulsory Counterclaims. A pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, provided it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim and does not require for its adjudication the presence of third parties over whom the court cannot acquire jurisdiction.

If this Court decides the counterclaims are permissive, then the trial court's order dismissing the counterclaims <u>is</u> a final order and appealable now. <u>See Campbell</u>. The question then becomes whether these counterclaims are beyond the scope of the Public Defender's statutory authority under § 27.51, Fla. Stat. (1997).

Section 27.51, Florida Statutes (1997), sets forth the duties of the Public Defender:

- (1) The public defender shall represent, without additional compensation, any person who is determined by the court to be indigent as provided in s. 27.52 and who is:
- (a) Under arrest for, or is charged with, a
 felony;
- (b) Under arrest for, or is charged with, a misdemeanor, a violation of chapter 316 which is punishable by imprisonment, criminal contempt, or a violation of a municipal or county ordinance in the county court, unless the court, prior to trial, files in the cause an order of no imprisonment which states that the defendant will not be imprisoned if he or she is convicted;
- (c) Alleged to be a delinquent child pursuant to a petition filed before a circuit court; or
- (d) Sought by petition filed in such court to be involuntarily placed as a mentally ill person or involuntarily admitted to residential services as a person with developmental disabilities.

It is clear from this statute that § 27.51 does not authorize the Public Defender to represent persons who are being committed as sexually violent predators under the Jimmy Ryce Act; however, the trial court entered an order on January 11, 1999, appointing the

³Apparently § 27.51 has been amended to include in the Public Defender duties the duty to represent indigent persons sought by petition to be involuntarily placed as a sexually violent predator; but this amendment did not go into effect until May 26, 1999. See § 27.51(1) (d), Fla. Stat. (1999).

Public Defender's Office to represent Mr. Sjuts in this Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding (V1/R47) under § 916.36(3), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), which states:

(3) At all adversarial proceedings under this act, the person subject to this act is entitled to the assistance of counsel, and, if the person is indigent, the court shall appoint the public defender or, if a conflict exists, other counsel to assist the person.

This type of proceeding is defined under § 916.31, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1998), as being a civil commitment procedure for long term care and treatment of sexually violent predators that is very different from civil commitments under the Baker Act. Thus, the legislature has expanded the duties of the Public Defender beyond what is contained in §27.51 to represent indigents sought to be civilly committed pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act.⁴

In a civil lawsuit a permissive counterclaim is "any claim against an opposing party not arising out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim." Fla. R. Crim. P. 1.170(b). "A partial final judgment adjudicating a permissive counterclaim is, therefore, ordinarily appealable." Campbell, 647 So. 2d at 785. The trial court's order in this case claims to dismiss counterclaims I and II without prejudice, but this ruling of being "without prejudice" makes no sense. If Mr. Sjuts' attorney in this case—the Public Defender's

^{4 &}lt;u>See also Bentzel v. State</u>, 585 So. 2d 1118 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), in which it was held that the right to counsel language contained in extradition proceedings, §941.10(1), Fla. Stat. (1989), encompassed the appointment of the public defender to represent the indigent challenging extradition.

Office--cannot represent Mr. Sjuts on his counterclaims, then no one will represent the indigent, incarcerated Mr. Sjuts; thus, the holding that the Public Defender cannot represent Jimmy Ryce clients in their civil counterclaims has a highly prejudicial impact on Mr. Sjuts and other Jimmy Ryce Act clients represented by the Public Defender.

As for the scope of the Public Defender's Office's representation, the Public Defender has been ordered to represent Mr. Sjuts in his Jimmy Ryce Act commitment proceedings; and this representation should not be limited so as to interfere with an attorney's representation of his client.

Rule 4-1.7(b), Rules Regulating The Florida Bar (1999)I provides:

(b) Duty to Avoid Limitation on Independent Professional Judgment. A lawyer shall not represent a client if the lawyer's exercise of independent professional judgment in the representation of that client may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person or by the lawyer's own interest,...

The comments to this rule state:

Loyalty to a client is also impaired when a lawyer cannot consider, recommend, or carry out an appropriate course of action for the client because of the lawyer's other responsibilities or interests. The conflict in effect forecloses alternatives that would otherwise be available to the client.

The appropriate cause of action for Mr. Sjuts is to get the impermissibly obtained evidence enjoined from use in any fashion and to obtain damages in order to obtain retribution for Mr. Sjuts and, as a side affect, to keep the psychiatrist and State from

improperly conducting its Jimmy Ryce Act initial evaluations in the future. The State and the trial court's order are limiting the Public Defender's attorneys in fully representing Mr. Sjuts to the point where the limitation is affecting their independent professional judgment. This violates the Assistant Public Defender's ethical responsibilities to his client. In addition, this creates due process and equal protection violations where an indigent defendant is provided less representation than a solvent defendant in violation of Amendment 14, Sec. 1, of the U.S. Constitution and Art. I. Sections 2, 9 and 21 of the Florida Constitution.

In <u>Polk County V Dodson</u>, 454 U.S. 312 at 325 (1981), the United States Supreme Court held that an Assistant Public Defender performing a lawyer's traditional functions could not be sued under 42 USCS § 1983 because that attorney was not acting "under color of state law." In order to reach that conclusion, the Court found two important factors: (1) The appointed attorney's right to act independently so as to advance the undivided interests of his client, and (2) the constitutional obligation of the State to respect that professional independence.

The fact that it is the State that pays the assistant public defender's salary is of no consequence. "Except for the source of payment, their [the attorney/client] relationship became identical to that existing between any other lawyer and client. 'Once a lawyer has undertaken the representation of an accused, the duties and obligations are the same whether the lawyer is privately retained, appointed, or serving in a legal aid or defender

program,' ABA Standards for Criminal Justice 4-3.9 (2d ed. 1980) [ftnt. omitted]." Polk County, 454 U.S. at 318. The Court described the duties of a defense attorney as those of a personal counselor and advocate who opposes the designated representatives "The system assumes that adversarial testing will of the State. ultimately advance the public interest in truth and fairness. it posits that a defense lawyer best serves the public, not by acting on behalf of the State or in concert with it, but rather by advancing 'the undivided interests of his client.' [Ftnt. omitted.] This is essentially a private function, traditionally filled by retained counsel, for which state office and authority are not needed. [Ftnt. omitted.]" Id. at 318, 319. The Court quotes from Ferri V. Ackerman, 444 U.S. 193 (1979), which describes the performance of appointed counsel as paralleling the performance of privately retained counsel; and even though appointed counsel serves pursuant to statutory authority, counsel's duty "'is to serve the undivided interests of his client." Polk County, 454 U.S. at 319, ftnt. 8. The quote goes on to note that an indispensable element of the appointed attorney's effective performance of his responsibilities is his ability to act independently of the government and to oppose it in adversary litigation. Id. The Court noted that although State decisions could determine the quality of a public defender's law library or size of his caseload, a defense attorney cannot be the servant of an administrative superior. The Court stated that a public defender is held to the same standards of competence and integrity as a private

attorney and "works under canons of professional responsibility that mandate his exercise of independent judgment on behalf of his client." <u>Id</u>. at 321. The Court then quotes DR5-107(B), ABA Code of Professional Responsibility (1976), that states a lawyer shall not permit a person who employs him to render legal services for another to direct or regulate his professional judgment in rendering such legal services. <u>Id</u>.

The concurring opinion by Chief Justice Burger emphasized the independence of appointed counsel from the government:

It is the independence from governmental control as to how the assigned task is to be performed that is crucial. The advocate, as an officer of the court which issued the commission to practice, owes an obligation to the court to repudiate any external effort to direct how the obligations to the client are to be carried out. The obligations owed by the attorney to the client are defined by the professional codes, not by the governmental entity from which the defense advocate's compensation is derived.

<u>Id</u>. at 327.

The second, and equally important, factor in <u>Polk County</u>. "is the constitutional obligation of the State to respect the professional independence of the public defenders whom it engages. [Ftnt. omitted.]" <u>Id</u>. at 321, 322. The Court stated that implicit in the concept of a "guiding hand" of appointed counsel is the assumption that appointed counsel will be free of State control. "There can be no fair trial unless the accused receives the services of an effective and independent advocate." <u>Id</u>. at 322.

Thus, the entire reasoning behind the holding in <u>Polk County</u> is based on the independence of the public defender to represent

his client's interest free from State interference and the State's constitutional obligation to respect that independence. In Mr. Sjuts' case the State is interfering with Public Defender's independence by putting limitations on its representation of Mr. Sjuts. The Public Defender has an ethical duty to represent Mr. Sjuts in all aspects of this proceeding, and this includes the counterclaims in question. The State's motion to dismiss these counterclaims interferes with these ethical duties, and the granting of that motion violates Mr. Sjuts' constitutional right to counsel—counsel that must be free of State control. Seed s o State v. Brummer. 426 So. 2d 532 (Fla. 1983).

In the more recent case of Legal Services Corp. v. Velazquez, 121 S.Ct. 1043 (2001), the U.S. Supreme Court held that conditions imposed by Congress on the use of Legal Services Corp. (LSC) funds violated the First Amendment rights of LSC grantees and their clients. Congress prohibited legal representation funded by recipients of LSC moneys if the representation involves an effort to amend or otherwise challenge existing welfare law. Such restrictions on LSC attorneys was held to be unconstitutional:

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