### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DALE EDWARD SJUTS,	)
Petitioner,	
v.	Case No. SC 01-95
STATE OF FLORIDA and DR. ALAN $J$ . WALDMAN,	)
Respondents.	)

### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

THOMAS E. WARNER Solicitor General

T. KENT WETHERELL, II Deputy Solicitor General

On behalf of ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General and the State of Florida

OFFICE OF THE SOLICITOR GENERAL The Capitol - Suite PL-01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399 (850) 414-3681 (850) 410-2672 (fax)

### FILED THOMAS D. HALL

JUN 0 5 2001

##

Statement of the Case and Facts
Standard of Review . ,
Summary of the Argument
Argument
THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED SJUTS' PURPORTED § 1983 "COUNTERCLAIMS" BECAUSE THE PUBLIC DEFENDER HAS NO AUTHORITY TO BRING SUCH CLAIMS AND, IN ANY EVENT, THEY ARE NOT PROPER COUNTERCLAIMS OR THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS IN A JIMMY RYCE ACT COMMITMENT PROCEEDING
<pre>indigentdefendant</pre>
Conclusion , , ,
Certificate of Service

Certificate of Compliance

Appendix

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases:

Behr v. Gardner, 442 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1 <sup>st</sup> DCA 1983) 8
Dailey v. Multicon Development, Inc., 417 So.2d 1106 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1982),,
Devoe         v.         Western         Auto         Supply         Co.,           537         So.2d         188         (Fla.         2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA         1989)         .         .         .         .         10
Dowdell v. City of Apopka, 698 F.2d 1181 (11 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1983) 17
Durham Tropical Land Corp. v. Sun Garden Sales Co., 106 Fla. 429, 151 So. 327 (1932)
Execu-Tech Business Systems, Inc. v. New Oii Paper Co. Ltd, 752 So.2d 582 (Fla. 2000)
<u>Gideon v. Wainwright,</u> 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792 (1963) 15
<u>Hafer v. Malo</u> , 501 U.S. 21, 112 S.Ct. 358 (1991)
Hall v. McDonough, 216 So.2d 84 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1968) 21
Hodqson v. Mississippi Dept. of Corrections, 963 F.Supp. 776 (E.D. Wisc. 1997)
In re Public Defender's Certification of Conflict and <u>Motion to Withdraw Due to Excessive Caseload</u> , 709 So.2d 101 (Fla. 1998)
<u>Kinder v. State</u> , 25 Fla. L. Weekly D2821 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA Dec. 8, 2000), <u>rev. granted</u> Case No. SC01-37
Lesal Services Corp. v. Velazquez, 121 S.Ct. 1043 (2001) . 14,16
Londono v. Turkey Creek, Inc., 609 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1992) 22
Lucas v. Guyton, 901 F.Supp. 1047 (D.S.C. 1995)
<u>McKay v. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co.,</u> 731 So.2d 852 (Fla. 4 <sup>th</sup> DCA 1999)
Moorman v. Bentley, 490 So.2d 186 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA 1986)

<u>New Hampshire v. Maine</u> , 2001 WL 567710 (U.S. May 29, 2001) . 14
Pennsyvania Board of Probation and Parole v. Scott, 524 U.S. 357, 118 S.Ct. 2014 (1948)
Polk County v. Dodson, 454 U.S. 312, 102 S.Ct. 445 (1981) 14,15
<u>Schreiber v. Rowe</u> , Case No. <b>SC95,000</b> ,
<u>State v. Goode</u> , 26 Fla. L. Weekly D131 (Fla. 2 <sup>nd</sup> DCA Jan. 5, 2001), <u>rev. granted</u> Case no. SC01-28
<u>State ex rel. Butterworth v. Kennev,</u> 714 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1998)
<u>State ex rel. Smith v. Brummer,</u> 443 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1982) . 7,8
<u>State ex rel. Smith v. Jorandby</u> , 498 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1986) , ,
<u>Unichem Mfq. Co. v. Witco Chemical Corp.,</u> 522 So.2d 98 (Fla. 3 <sup>rd</sup> DCA 1988) 20
Whiqum v. Heilig-Mevers Furniture, Inc.,682So.2d643(Fla. 1st DCA 1996)
<u>Will v. Michigan Dept. of State Police,</u> 491 U.S. 58, 109 S.Ct. 2304 (1989)
Florida Constitution:
Art. V, § 18
Florida Statutes (1998 Supp., except as indicated):
§ 27.51 (1997)
<b>§§</b> 768.28 (2000)
§ 916.32
§ 916.33
§ 916.36

## Laws of Florida:

Ch. 99-222
Court Rules:
Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.170
Fla.R. Civ. P. 1.180
Other Authori ties:
42 U.S.C. § 1983
42 U.S.C. § 1988
Attn'y Gen. Op. 95-45
Padavono, <u>Civil Practice</u> (1999 ed.)
Staff Analysis for CS/CS/SB 2192 (Sen. Judic. Comm. Apr. 8, 1999)
Tape Recording of Sen. Judic. Comm. Mtg. (Apr. 7, 1999) . 13

### ABBREVIATIONS USED IN BRIEF

**Parties.** Petitioner Dale Edward Sjuts will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Sjuts" in this brief. Respondents State of Florida and Dr. Alan J. Waldman will be collectively referred to as "State" in this brief except where the context indicates otherwise.

**Record.** The three-volume record on appeal will be cited as "R" followed by the volume number and page number(s), e.g., R1-69.

**Petitioner's Brief.** References to Petitioner's initial brief shall be 'Init. **Br.**" followed by the page number(s). References to the documents in the appendix to Petitioner's brief shall be "Init. Br. **App.**" followed by the tab letter, e.g., Init. Br. App. B.

Appendix to State's Brief. The appendix to this brief includes the decision below (Tab A) as well as the trial court's order which was affirmed by the Second District (Tab B). References to those documents shall be "App." followed by the tab letter, e.g., App. A.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Statement of the Case and Facts in Petitioner's brief is incomplete. The State offers the following Statement of the Case and Facts in lieu of that provided by Petitioner:

This case was initiated on January 5, 1999, when the State filed a Petition for Commitment against Sjuts pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act, sections 916.31-.49, Florida Statutes (1998 Supp.). R1-1, -30. The petition alleged that Sjuts is a sexually violent predator based upon his two previous convictions for attempted sexual battery on a child under the **age** of 12 and based upon mental abnormalities (namely Pedophilia, marijuana **abuse**, alcohol abuse, **and** cocaine abuse) which makes Sjuts "likely to engage in acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility for long-term control, care and treatment." R1-1 to -2. The allegations in the petition were based upon **a** report detailing Sjuts' psyco-sexual history prepared by Dr. Alan J. Waldman, a foresnic psychiatrist who examined Sjuts as part of a multidisciplinary team established under the Jimmy Ryce Act. R1-1, -22, -14 to -18. <u>And see</u> R3-343 (Sjuts' consent to the evaluation).

After the trial court entered an ex parte order finding probable cause to declare Sjuts a sexually violent predator, R1-24, the Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent Sjuts who is indigent. R1-47. On February 1, 1999, the Public Defender filed an answer which set forth four

"Counterclaims." R1-69. The first "counterclaim" purported to allege a cause of action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for an "unlawful search violating privacy rights" and the second "counterclaim" purported to allege a cause of action under § 1983 for "false imprisonment violating liberty interests."1 Rl-69 to -72. Both § 1983 "counterclaims" were directed at the State of Florida and Dr. Waldman in his individual capacity. R1-69 (¶¶ 15-16), R1-71, R1-72. Both § 1983 'counterclaims" were based upon the legal premise that the Jimmy Ryce Act does not authorize a mental health evaluation before a probable cause determination is made under the Act by the trial court. RI-70, -71 (¶ 24, 30). More specifically, the § 1983 'counterclaims" were based upon allegations that Dr. Waldman coerced Petitioner into undergoing the psychiatric evaluation by misinforming him that the evaluation was permitted by and was within the context of the Jimmy Ryce Act and that Petitioner would not be released at the end of his sentence if he did not consent to the evaluation. RI-70, -71 ( $\P\P$  20-22, 30). The § 1983 'counterclaims" sought the following relief:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The third counterclaim alleged that the Jimmy Ryce Act is unconstitutional on various grounds. Rl-72 to -74. The forth counterclaim sought to prohibit the State from procuring or utilizing the mental evaluation of Petitioner (and presumably other potential Ryce Act defendants) without a court order and further sought to require the State to establish formal rules to supervise the assessment and evaluation process. Rl-74 to -75. The viability of the third and fourth counterclaims are not at issue in this appeal. <u>See</u> slip op. at 3 n.2; R2-261.

- [1] Find that the State and Dr. Waldman violated
   [Petitioner's] constitutional rights in violation of 42
   U.S.C. § 1983.
- [2] Award compensatory damages against Dr. Waldman;
- [3] Award punitive damages against Dr. Waldman;
- [4] Award attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and
- [5] Enjoin the State and Dr. Waldman from using [Petitioner's] evaluation or gaining any benefit therefrom.

Rl-71, -72.

The Office of the Attorney General appeared to defend the State and Dr. Waldman against the two § 1983 "counterclaims" and subsequently moved to dismiss those claims. R1-111, -113 to -117 (as to the State); R1-153, -155 to -161 (as to Dr. Waldman).<sup>2</sup> The trial court, relying on <u>State ex rel. Smith v. Jorandbv</u>, 498 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1986), dismissed the § 1983 "counterclaims" <u>without</u> <u>prejudice</u> because such claims for "monetary damages against the State and its agents is beyond the scope of the public defender's statutory authority" in section 27.51, Fla. Stat. (1997) .<sup>3</sup> R2-260 to -263 (copy in App. B). Petitioner filed a notice of appeal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Office of the Attorney General serves as legal counsel to the multidisciplinary team of which Dr. Waldman was a member. <u>See</u> § 916.33(3), Fla. Stat. (1998 Supp.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> A hearing on the State's motions to dismiss the § 1983 'counterclaims" was held on March 25, 1999. <u>See R3-355 to -369</u> (transcript of hearing). It should be noted that the transcript attached to Petitioner's brief (Init. Br. App. B) is of a hearing in a <u>different case</u> before a <u>different iudse</u> involving a <u>different</u> <u>defendant</u>.

which characterized the trial court's order as "a final judgment dismissing permissive counterclaims." R2-347 (emphasis supplied).

The Second District affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the § 1983 'counterclaims." Slip op. at 2 (copy in App. A; reported at 774 So.2d 783). The court determined that the "trial court correctly concluded that the public defender exceeded his statutory authority when filing the counterclaims." Id. at 3 (citing § 27.51 and Jorandby). The court further held that the § 1983 'counterclaims" were subject to dismissal because "the State is not a proper defendant in a § 1983 suit." Id. at 4. Finally, the court held that the § 1983 claims were not proper counterclaims or third-party actions against Dr. Waldman because Dr. Waldman is not an opposing party in the underlying litigation and the claims are not based upon the same transaction or occurrence that is the subject-matter of the Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding. Id.

Sjuts subsequently filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. The sole basis for review set forth in the notice and the jurisdictional brief filed by Petitioner was that the district court's decision affects a class of constitutional officers, namely the Public Defenders. On April 17, 2001, the Court accepted jurisdiction and set the case for oral argument.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is *de novo*. <u>See</u> <u>Execu-Tech Business</u> <u>Systems, Inc. v. New Oii Paper Co. Ltd.</u>, 752 So.2d 582, 584 (Fla. 2000) (a ruling on a motion to dismiss based upon a question of law is reviewed *de novo*).

### STJMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court properly dismissed Sjuts' § 1983 "counterclaims" against the State and Dr. Waldman. The Public Defender is without authority to pursue such claims on behalf of Sjuts and, in any event, such claims are not proper counterclaims or third-party claims in a Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding. Accordingly, the Court should approve the Second District's decision which affirms the trial court's dismissal of the § 1983 'counterclaims" without prejudice.

This Court expressly held in <u>State ex rel. Smith v. Jorandbv</u>, 498 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1986), that the Public Defender has no authority to bring a § 1983 action seeking monetary damages against the State on behalf of an indigent defendant. There have been no material changes to the constitutional and statutory provisions governing the Public Defenders which would undermine the Court's holding in <u>Jorandby</u>. Indeed, the 1999 amendments to section 27.51 reaffirm the limited scope of the Public Defender's authority in civil actions.

Moreover, Sjuts' § 1983 claims are not proper counterclaims or third-party claims in this Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding. The § 1983 claims may not be brought against the State which is the only "opposing party" in the commitment proceeding. To the extent that the § 1983 claims are directed at Dr. Waldman in his individual capacity, they are not counterclaims because Dr. Waldman is not an "opposing party" in the commitment proceeding. In any event, the § 1983 claims are not proper counterclaims because they do not arise out of the same transaction or occurrence as the underlying Jimmy Ryce Act proceeding and involve completely different issues. Accordingly, the § 1983 claims against Dr. Waldman should be raised in a separate action if at all.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED **SJUTS'** PURPORTED § 1983 "COUNTERCLAIMS" BECAUSE THE PUBLIC DEFENDER HAS NO AUTHORITY TO BRING SUCH CLAIMS AND, IN ANY EVENT, THEY ARE NOT PROPER COUNTERCLAIMS OR THIRD-PARTY CLAIMS IN A JIMMY RYCE ACT COMMITMENT PROCEEDING.

Although not entirely clear from Petitioner's brief, this case presents two issues for review. The first is whether the Public Defender has authority to bring a § 1983 action seeking monetary damages on behalf of an indigent defendant. The second is whether a § 1983 action may be interjected **as** a counterclaim or third-party claim in a Jimmy Ryce Act commitment proceeding by anyone on the defendant's behalf. The Second District properly decided each issue and its decision should be approved.

## A. The Public Defender has no authority to bring § 1983 claims seeking money damages on behalf of an indigent defendant.

The Public Defenders with inherent are not vested discretionary authority to represent indigent persons nor to determine the nature of the cases in which representation is provided. In State ex rel. Smith v. Brummer, 443 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1984), the Court held that the Public Defender exceeded his authority in accepting an appointment by a federal district court to represent indigent defendants in federal habeas proceedings. In reaching this decision, the Court explained the parameters of the Public Defenders' authority:

The Office of the Public Defender is a creature of the state constitution and of statute, not of the common law . . . The functioning of that office is regulated by statute, sections 27.50-.59, Florida Statutes (1981), and by court rule. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111. Section 27.51 sets forth the duties of the public defender: To represent any indigents who face possible loss of liberty, or any indigent minor alleged to be a delinquent child, and to handle felony appeals in the state or federal courts.

<u>Id.</u> at 959.

Moreover, the Public Defenders do not have "blanket authority" to determine the scope of representation in any case in which their office is appointed:

The office of public defender is totally a creature of the state constitution and of statute, not of common law. <u>State ex rel.</u> <u>Smith v. Brummer</u>, 443 So.2d 957 (Fla. 1984). The applicable statute, (section 27.51, Florida Statutes (1985)), does not provide blanket authority for the public defender to represent all indigent persons in all types of criminal actions. <u>Behr v. Gardner</u>, 442 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

<u>Moorman v. Bentley</u>, 490 So. 2d 186, 187 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). If the Public Defenders have no authority to undertake representation of indigent persons in "all types of criminal actions," then they surely do not have such authority in all types of civil **cases**.

This case is controlled by <u>State ex rel. Smith v. Jorandbv.</u> 498 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1986), which also involved **a**§ 1983 action filed by a Public Defender seeking monetary damages against state

officials. In <u>Jorandby</u>, the Court expressly (and unanimously) held:

. . . under Florida's constitution and statutory law, public defenders are authorized only to represent defendants whose liberty interests are threatened by the State of Florida, and, consequently have no authority to seek money damages against the state on behalf of their clients.

Id. at 949.<sup>4</sup> There have been no material changes to the Florida Constitution or the controlling statutes since <u>Jorandby</u> was decided which would undermine the holding in that case. Indeed, as discussed below, a 1999 amendment to section 27.51, Florida Statutes, effectively codifies the holding of <u>Jorandby</u>. Accordingly, the Court should reaffirm <u>Jorandby</u> and approve the Second District's decision which affirmed the dismissal of the <u>§</u> 1983 'counterclaim" filed by the Public Defender against the stateappointed psychiatrist in the Jimmy Ryce Act commitment proceeding underlying this case.

Petitioner does not even mention <u>Jorandbv</u> until page 15 of his brief and then attempts to distinguish that case on the basis that the § 1983 claim filed in this case seeks to enjoin the State from using the psychiatrist's evaluation in addition to <u>seeking</u> money damages against the psychiatrist. That distinction fails. First,

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